
22 January 2020

NOTICE OF MEETING

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL
will meet on

Thursday, 30 January 2020
beginning at

7:00 pm
on the

Rooms 11/12/13, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh SO50 9YN

TO: Councillor Richard Gomer (Chair)
Councillor Malcolm Cross (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Janice Asman
Councillor Alan Broadhurst
Councillor Nicholas Couldrey
Councillor Jephthe Doguie
Councillor James Duguid
Councillor Judith Grajewski
Councillor Tim Groves
Councillor Lucy Jurd
Councillor David Pragnell
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne
Councillor Gin Tidridge

CC: Councillor Keith House Council Leader

Staff Contacts: Claire Brown, Case Management Officer; Tel: 023 8068 8498; 
Email: claire.brown@eastleigh.gov.uk

Natalie Wigman, Corporate Director Tel: 023 8068 8405 
Email: natalie.wigman@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Head of Performance and Governance

____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings as well as in 

other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and other 
languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above.

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

1

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public, and  
Councillors will be using tablet devices to access committee papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies    

2. Minutes    (To Be Tabled) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 January 2020.

3. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

4. Public Participation    

5. Chair's Report    

6. Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership Annual Review    (Pages 3 - 70)

7. Sustainable Transport Strategy (Cycling & Walking)    (Verbal Report)

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  -

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

1. FIELD_TITLE

2. FIELD_TITLE

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Thursday, 6 February 2020 at 7:00 pm

on the Rooms 11/12/13, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh SO50 
9YN

2

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 

Thursday, 30 January 2020 

EASTLEIGH COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP ANNUAL 
REVIEW

Report of the Safety and Resilience Manager on behalf of the 
Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership

Recommendation(s)

It is recommended that  the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel

(1) Note the work undertaken by the Community Safety Partnership over the past 
twelve months in the Borough.
(2) Note the plans for the undertaking of the annual strategic review in 2020 as 
required in the  Police and Justice Act 2006

Summary

This report provides a summary of the work undertaken by the Eastleigh Community 
Safety Partnership over the last year.  It highlights the key priorities of the Partnership, 
reviews the levels of crime and anti-social behaviour in the borough and updates on 
significant events and projects that have occurred in the last year.

Statutory Powers

s.19-21 Police and Justice Act 2006

Strategic Implications 

1. Creating healthy communities: To enable health and wellbeing by working 
together to reduce both the actual and fear of crime and disorder and thus 
promote wellbeing in the community.

Introduction

2. The Community Safety Partnership (CSP) is established under the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 and requires the named organisations to work in 
partnership to tackle crime and disorder along with anti-social behaviour, drug 
and alcohol abuse and reducing reoffending. Additionally, the Authorities are 
required to produce an annual strategic assessment and from that deliver an 
action plan having identified the strategic priorities for the year.

3

Agenda Item 6



Eastleigh Borough Council

3. The Police and Justice Act 2006 introduced powers for the Local Authority to 
scrutinise the work being undertaken by the CSP. This is a power to examine 
the work of the partnership as a whole rather than a power to scrutinise the 
actions and work of individual partners. The Act requires Local Authorities to 
designate a committee as a crime and disorder committee with responsibility 
for the “Responsible Authorities” (the CSP Partners). The Policy and 
Performance Scrutiny Panel is the designated Committee to carry out this 
review annually. 

4. The Responsible Authorities of Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership are:

Eastleigh Borough Council
Hampshire County Council
Hampshire Constabulary
Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service
Hampshire and Isle of Wight (IOW) Community Rehabilitation Company 
National Probation Service
NHS West Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group

In addition to the Responsible Authorities, One Community Eastleigh is also 
represented. Senior officers from each of the authorities set the strategic 
direction of the CSP through an Executive Board, the Chair of which is 
currently Councillor Tonia Craig, Portfolio Member for Health.

5. Partnership priorities: For the past 18 months the CSP has identified three 
strategic priorities on which to focus its work. These are

o Reduce the incidence of all violent crime, including the prevention and 
reduction of domestic abuse

o Reduce the incidence of  anti-social behaviour

o Tackle crime against the most vulnerable in our society including hate 
crime and elder abuse.

Annual Strategic review

6. The CSP is required to undertake an annual strategic review. This process will 
start in January 2020 and culminate with the Annual Forum to be held towards 
the end of March 2020. The Strategic Review is a snapshot of crime and 
community safety, supported by factual data from across the partnership. This 
document is then used to help identify the strategic priorities for the coming 
year.

7. The purpose of identifying the strategic priorities is to enable partners to 
effectively collaborate to plan and address those issues causing our 
communities the greatest harm. Many of the priorities do not change 
substantially from year to year as they follow long term trends but the review 
provides the opportunity to re-focus priorities in response to emerging or 
changing trends in crime and ASB, the impact of previous interventions, 

4



Eastleigh Borough Council

emerging external national or local factors, and learning gained through 
delivery of existing priorities

Crime and anti-social behaviour

8. The crime and anti-social behaviour data is included in Appendix A. and is a 
three year view of recorded crime in the Borough. This data is not all the crime 
sections as this report concerns the work of the Community Safety 
Partnership which works together to tackle its identified priorities not all crime 
elements.

Over the last few years the Government has been constantly changing the   
definitions and recording rules for police forces thus making year on year 
comparisons difficult. These changes have been made in order to improve 
data integrity and ensure that all crimes reported are being captured. This has 
inevitably resulted in increases across Hampshire and the Isle of Wight of 
reported crime, especially in the areas of assaults, public order and serious 
sexual offences. Assaults and public order offences have increased as 
Hampshire Police now actively seek to record offences, often identifying 
offences that are mentioned in other reports by victims. The increase in 
recording of sexual offences is in part due to the increased reporting of 
historical cases which though whilst occurring in the past, is recorded under 
the current year’s crimes.

The Office for National Statistics reported in its 2019 report that 
“improvements to recording processes and practices by the police have made 
substantial contributions to rises in recorded crime over the last five years.”

At the end of 2019, all recorded crime has increased by 6.7% compared to 
2018.

9. Crime types

One of the major elements in the rise in overall crime is within the category of 
Violence without Injury. This is a very broad category and includes stalking, 
harassment and malicious communications as well as minor assaults. This 
has risen by 24% compared to the previous 2 years but this is very much 
down to changes in recording practices and the impact of social media 
interactions leading to the disclosure of criminal offences.

Of greater concern is the doubling in robbery, which whilst small numbers has 
bene a significant factor in 2019. Robbery has doubled from 43 offences to 
88, and the vast majority of these robberies have been youth on youth. In the 
past year the negative effects of drug dealing and County Lines has impacted   
the Borough mostly within Eastleigh. This has involved a group of young 
people who have committed violent acts against other young people as part of 
their involvement in the drug supply chain.  This has been tackled by the 
Community Safety Partnership through its Operation Upgrade work (see 
paragraph 14 below). However  whilst inroads are being made, it is clear that 

5



Eastleigh Borough Council

this is not  a problem which will   disappear quickly and  work is continuing  
both with the young people involved but also to target those higher up the 
chain who are  ensnaring young people into  a sometimes violent and  always 
harmful world.

Most serious violence has reduced over the last year by 20% and it is good to 
note that these figures are very small anyway. 

Hate crime reporting continues to increase year on year which is seen as a 
positive as it is widely accepted that hate crimes are universally under 
reported. Thus   we are gradually moving towards a more   realistic picture of 
the prevalence of hate crime in our community. 

Anti-social behaviour has continued to fall year on year, 18% in the last two 
years. There has however in the last few months been a spike in anti-social 
behaviour including nuisance, criminal damage, vandalism in Eastleigh town 
Centre which has caused a rise in costs for repair and   an increase in the fear 
of crime.

Activity in 2019: Key partnership projects

10. Supporting Families programme: Troubled Families, known locally in 
Hampshire as Supporting Families, is a programme of targeted intervention 
for families with multiple problems, including crime, anti-social behaviour, 
truancy, unemployment, mental health problems and domestic abuse. Every 
year the borough is set annual targets by Hampshire County Council for the 
successful engagement of families for the programme. Eastleigh is widely 
recognised across the county as being a high achieving area with a robust 
process in place and excellent partnership working. 

In the financial year 2018-2019, Eastleigh had an annual target for positive 
engagement of 96 families and performance outstripped this target by 22% as 
117 were brought on to the programme. At the time of writing, 13 reward 
payments have been made to the programme. Reward payments are made 
by central Government where evidence collected over a six month period 
indicates that sustained change has occurred. For the current financial year 
so far:  April – August 2019 the overall target of 36 has been exceeded by 
16% with 66 families engaged. The programme was due to finish in March 
2020, but the Government has decided to extend it for a further year but at the 
time of writing no details about funding have been given so we are at present 
unable to make confirmed plans. 

11. Tactical Community Safety Partnership (TCSP) and Operation Upgrade: At 
the beginning of the year the Partnership adopted a new group to its work 
plan by creating a monthly tactical meeting engaging with over 20 different 
partner organisations to provide a comprehensive and all-inclusive approach 
to tackling crime and anti-social behaviour across the borough. The list of 
partners is included in Annex A.  The Tactical CSP meeting co-chaired by the 

6



Eastleigh Borough Council

District Inspector and the Safety & Resilience Manager looks in detail at both 
crime series & trends and those individuals who are causing the most harm 
and risk in the borough. This multi-agency approach has been successful in 
bringing partners with whom there had been limited involvement previously, 
opening new streams of intelligence and communication and most importantly 
helping the Partnership to implement a single agreed approach to some of the 
problems that have occurred during the year.

12. Most recently this group has been expanded to include the work on Missing, 
Exploited and Trafficked children (MET) being led by the Willow Team from 
Hampshire Children Services.

13. The Tactical CSP has had to manage a range of issues across the year most 
notably the higher levels of violence between young people in Eastleigh. This 
has led to some serious assaults and incidents and a three pronged approach 
was adopted: robust policing with the core offenders, interventions with those 
young people and their parents/carers on the periphery of the violence and 
the development of an early intervention programme with the secondary 
schools. 

14. Operation Upgrade as the work was called has been effective for the most 
part and several young people have been successfully prosecuted and others 
have been diverted away. The situation though has not gone away as the 
impact of drug related harm and County Lines, which can be seen in all parts 
of the country, is clearly visible within the Borough and is currently the main 
focus of the work. The incorporation of the MET programme into the Tactical 
approach will significantly improve the partnership’s ability to have an impact 
on the lives of the young people caught up in this dangerous activity.

15. The Partnership was successful in gaining funding from the Serious Violence 
Fund to develop an early intervention programme for secondary schools and 
the pilot is currently underway at Crestwood School. This programme is for 
use with young people at risk of suspension or exclusion and/or who are 
starting causing anti-social behaviour and crime. The programme deploys a 
Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT) approach through group work which aims 
to improve thinking skills, decision making, understanding of risk, emotional 
awareness and communication skills.  Participants in the pilot were 
interviewed before starting the programme and an assessment completed 
along with an outcomes chart. This process will be repeated at the end of the 
course to determine progress and change.

16. Following the pilot the aim is to roll out the programme across all the 
secondary schools in the borough through a Train the Trainer programme so 
that it can be delivered in house by teaching staff. The programme has built in 
evaluation so participants are tracked before during and after taking part in the 
sessions.

17. Diversionary activities: across the borough a number of diversionary activities 
continue to operate with the youth services of Groundwork, Youth Options and 
Eastleigh Council’s own youth service undertaking outreach and building 
based sessions.

7



Eastleigh Borough Council

18. The Friday Night Football project received a grant from the Hampshire Police 
and Crime Commissioner 19/20 Community Safety fund, resulting in the 
launch of a new session to service the Bursledon, Hamble and Hound local 
area. The annual report on the project stated that on average 83 young 
people were engaged each week, with an annual throughput engagement of 
3388.  A reduction in anti-social behaviour reports in two out of the three 
areas where the project is located. Whilst it cannot be directly credited it is 
promising to see reduction where the project is situated. 

19. Hate crime is a priority for the partnership and this year it has examined two 
areas in particular LGBT hate crime and elder abuse.  The Partnership 
through One Community was successful in gaining a grant from the 
Hampshire Police and Crime Commissioner 19/20 Community Safety fund to 
carry out work in both these areas. This funded a research project into the 
level of LGBT hate crime in the borough and the County-wide roll out of the 
elder abuse training package, previously developed by the Partnership, 
through train the trainer sessions. The LGBT hate crime research project has 
just been completed and the CSP is developing a plan to implement the 
recommendations from the report. (Annex B)

20. The Partnership is also keen to extend the number of third party hate crime 
reporting centres in the borough as the current 3 centres are all based in 
Eastleigh and Chandler’s Ford (Eastleigh Museum, Citizens Advice and Victim 
Support). The 2020 plan will seek to open new centres in other parts of the 
borough especially HEWEB and BHH.

21. Annual Forum: Every year the CSP holds a multi-agency event focusing on a 
particular theme. In 2019 the event was attended by over 60 people 
representing 24 different partner organisations. The programme focused on 
the tactical response to local issues and grouped attendees in the local areas 
to discuss the responses.  The Tactical CSP was established on the back of 
the event and partners have been committed to the process as a result.

At this Forum, the CSP introduced an awards element recognising 
outstanding work undertaken by individuals or groups. The first recipients 
were Friday Night Football scheme (15 years in operation), the four Street 
Pastor schemes in the borough (10 years’ service) and two police officers for 
their work on the domestic violence cars project and tackling a specific 
antisocial behaviour problem respectively.

Financial Implications

22. The CSP receives no direct funding and has only a small reserve of reducing 
funds. The Partnership is reliant upon its member organisations contributions 
which are mainly human resources rather than financial. The lack of funding 
and diminishing numbers of staff in key partners such as Hampshire 
Constabulary adversely affects the possible outcomes that can be achieved 
and projects that can be run by the Partnership.

23. The CSP can apply to the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
(OPCC) for funding for specific projects through the bi-annual grants process. 

8



Eastleigh Borough Council

In addition, CSPs across Hampshire and IOW can access an emergency fund 
from the OPCC to help tackle an emerging crime and disorder issue within 
their area, up to a maximum of £3,000.

24. The Supporting Families programme is centrally funded by HM Government 
and Eastleigh Borough Council receives funds via Hampshire County Council 
to enable it to deliver the programme. Due to this there are no net revenue 
implications to the Council.

Risk Assessment

25. The main risk identified to the continued successful work of the Partnership is 
lack of funding and resources across all partners thus restricting the extra 
work that is possible as organisations concentrate on their core duties and 
priorities. 

Equality and Diversity Implications

26. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
which is to note, does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing 
equality of opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people.  
An Equality Impact Assessment has not been carried out.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications

27. This is a report from the Community Safety Partnership a legally constituted 
partnership of 8 different organisations. There are no decisions or proposals 
contained within this report as it is a retrospective review of the   work of the 
Partnership over the last year. There thus no climate change and 
environmental implications.  

Conclusion

28. Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership has fulfilled its statutory duties over 
the last year and its members continue to work well in partnership together to 
tackle crime and disorder within the Borough of Eastleigh. As has been seen 
across the UK, crime has risen in the previous year for the first time in many 
years but the CSP has put in place a new tactical approach for 2019 to target 
its limited resources to address the priorities identified. Eastleigh remains a 
safe place in which to live and work.

MELVIN HARTLEY
SAFETY AND RESILIENCE MANAGER

Date: 1st December 2020
Contact Officer: Melvin Hartley
Tel No: 02380 688149
e-mail: melvin.hartley@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 2

9



Eastleigh Borough Council

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

 Background Papers 

A. Crime and ASB data (separate document) 
B. List of Tactical CSP organisations
C. LGBT hate crime report. (separate document)

10



Eastleigh Borough Council

Appendix B: 

List of Tactical CSP organisations:

Aurora New Dawn
Eastleigh Neighbourhood Watch association
Eastleigh BID
Groundwork
Hampshire and Isle of Wight Community Rehabilitation Company
Hampshire Constabulary
Hampshire County Council
Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service
Hampshire Fire Authority
Hampshire Youth Offending Team
Hyde Housing
Inclusion Recovery Hampshire
National Probation Service
One Community
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner
Radian Group
Stop Domestic violence
The Swan Centre
The You Trust
Yellow door
Victim Support
Vivid Homes
West Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group
Youth Options

EDUCATION
Barton Peverill College
The Bridge Education Centre
Crestwood 
Eastleigh College
Hamble
Thornden
Toynbee
Wyvern
Wildern

11



This page is intentionally left blank



Crime and antisocial behaviour statistics   2017- 2019

EASTLEIGH - All 
Crime

10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec TOTAL

Crimes - Current Year 611 589 720 692 682 865 771 732 712 811 768 737 8690

Crimes - Last Year 719 644 672 693 788 713 704 694 608 636 625 650 8146

Crimes - Previous Year 622 667 747 618 706 695 658 633 723 760 813 646 8288

Difference (current vs Last) -108 -55 48 -1 -106 152 67 38 104 175 143 87 544

% Difference -
15.0% -8.5% 7.1% -0.1% -

13.5% 21.3% 9.5% 5.5% 17.1% 27.5% 22.9% 13.4% 6.7%

13



EASTLEIGH - 1b 
Violence with 
Injury

10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec TOTAL

Crimes - Current Year 48 83 87 82 65 109 112 94 96 93 100 92 1061

Crimes - Last Year 94 56 97 67 109 84 113 87 75 73 62 88 1005

Crimes - Previous Year 77 82 80 86 87 110 81 84 93 106 92 72 1050

Difference (current vs Last) -46 27 -10 15 -44 25 -1 7 21 20 38 4 56

% Difference -
48.9% 48.2% -

10.3% 22.4% -
40.4% 29.8% -0.9% 8.0% 28.0% 27.4% 61.3% 4.5% 5.6%

14



EASTLEIGH - 1c 
Violence without 
Injury

10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec TOTAL

Crimes - Current Year 129 136 176 169 179 193 193 182 195 195 165 190 2102

Crimes - Last Year 137 130 139 146 174 142 174 129 113 121 129 161 1695

Crimes - Previous Year 135 134 122 119 126 130 153 126 127 149 170 118 1609

Difference (current vs Last) -8 6 37 23 5 51 19 53 82 74 36 29 407

% Difference -5.8% 4.6% 26.6% 15.8% 2.9% 35.9% 10.9% 41.1% 72.6% 61.2% 27.9% 18.0% 24.0%

15



EASTLEIGH - 3b 
Robbery of 
Personal 
Property

10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec TOTAL

Crimes - Current Year 10 3 13 10 9 2 3 5 12 4 9 8 88

Crimes - Last Year 1 3 0 1 0 10 4 4 5 3 6 6 43

Crimes - Previous Year 2 1 1 1 5 2 4 2 5 6 10 3 42

Difference (current vs Last) 9 0 13 9 9 -8 -1 1 7 1 3 2 45

% Difference 900.0% - - 900.0% - -
80.0%

-
25.0% 25.0% 140.0% 33.3% 50.0% 33.3% 104.7%

16



EASTLEIGH - 4a1 
Burglary 
Residential

10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec TOTAL

Crimes - Current Year 42 34 34 22 23 33 28 41 20 44 68 50 439

Crimes - Last Year 23 42 25 18 26 36 33 34 54 41 34 27 393

Crimes - Previous Year 17 24 15 38 40 33 20 31 60 38 49 33 398

Difference (current vs Last) 19 -8 9 4 -3 -3 -5 7 -34 3 34 23 46

% Difference 82.6% -
19.0% 36.0% 22.2% -

11.5% -8.3% -
15.2% 20.6% -

63.0% 7.3% 100.0% 85.2% 11.7%

17



EASTLEIGH - 
Burglary 
Residential 
(Excluding Shed 
& Garages)

10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec TOTAL

Crimes - Current Year 28 18 15 14 16 21 20 32 10 23 36 18 251

Crimes - Last Year 12 32 13 7 10 22 22 14 27 13 12 18 202

Crimes - Previous Year 17 24 15 20 17 15 9 19 26 23 37 22 244

Difference (current vs Last) 16 -14 2 7 6 -1 -2 18 -17 10 24 0 49

18



% Difference 133.3%
-

43.8% 15.4% 100.0% 60.0% -4.5% -9.1% 128.6% -
63.0% 76.9% 200.0% - 24.3%

EASTLEIGH - 
Most Serious 
Violence

10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec TOTAL

Crimes - Current Year 1 6 7 4 3 7 6 2 4 3 2 5 50

Crimes - Last Year 4 8 7 7 5 7 4 3 5 5 2 6 63

Crimes - Previous Year 7 1 3 1 3 9 4 4 7 6 8 3 56

19



Difference (current vs Last) -3 -2 0 -3 -2 0 2 -1 -1 -2 0 -1 -13

% Difference -
75.0%

-
25.0% - -

42.9%
-

40.0% - 50.0% -
33.3%

-
20.0%

-
40.0% - -

16.7% -20.6%

EASTLEIGH - 
Hate Crime

10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec TOTAL

Crimes - Current Year 5 16 14 9 16 20 12 21 13 13 9 9 157

Crimes - Last Year 14 4 7 8 17 11 9 12 7 8 11 12 120

Crimes - Previous Year 9 7 9 12 2 12 9 5 12 18 8 0 103

20



Difference (current vs Last) -9 12 7 1 -1 9 3 9 6 5 -2 -3 37

% Difference -
64.3% 300.0% 100.0% 12.5% -5.9% 81.8% 33.3% 75.0% 85.7% 62.5% -

18.2%
-

25.0% 30.8%

EASTLEIGH - 
ASB

10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec TOTAL

Crimes - Current Year 163 173 150 199 193 196 256 201 197 188 167 94 2177

21



Crimes - Last Year 187 157 186 178 241 237 279 239 209 196 159 171 2439

Crimes - Previous Year 137 195 212 224 217 237 258 266 240 265 217 183 2651

Difference (current vs Last) -24 16 -36 21 -48 -41 -23 -38 -12 -8 8 -77 -262

% Difference -
12.8% 10.2% -

19.4% 11.8% -
19.9%

-
17.3% -8.2% -

15.9% -5.7% -4.1% 5.0% -
45.0% -10.7%

22



 
August 2019 

 

Improving Reporting of LGBTQ+ Hate 
Crimes in the Borough of Eastleigh 

 

  

23



1 

 

Table of Contents 

1. Executive Summary 3 

2. Aim 4 

3. Study Design 5 

4. Key Terms 6 

5. Literature Review 7 

5.1. Introduction 7 

5.1.1. What is “LGBTQ+”? 7 

5.1.2. What is Hate Crime? 8 

5.2. Current Status of LGBTQ+ rights 10 

5.2.1. LGBTQ+ equality in Britain: a timeline 11 

5.3. LGBTQ+ hate crime in the UK 13 

5.3.1. Where does it stem from? 14 

5.3.2. Case Study: A Hate Crime in London 17 

5.4. Improving Reporting Interventions 18 

5.4.1. Galop’s LGBT Hate Crime Quality Standard (2011) 18 

5.4.2. Action Against Hate (2013) 19 

5.5. The Impact of Hate Crime 22 

5.6. Hate Crime in the Borough of Eastleigh 23 

6. Primary Research 25 

24



2 

 

6.1. Eastleigh Survey Results 25 

6.1.1. Baseline Analysis 25 

6.1.2. Hate Crime and Reporting 26 

6.1.3. Preferred Methods of Reporting 27 

6.2. Qualitative Data 29 

7. Discussion 31 

8. Recommendations 35 

9. References 37 

10. Appendix i 

10.1. Questionnaire i 

10.2. Galop’s Self-Assessment Chart v 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Information correct to best of knowledge at time of publication (August 2019).  

The author, One Community and Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership accept no 

responsibility for any mistakes contained within this report.  

25



3 

 

1. Executive Summary 

This research has been commissioned by One Community Eastleigh and the Eastleigh 

Community Safety Partnership to improve the current status of reporting of hate crime 

against people who identify as Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Questioning or similar 

(LGBTQ+) in the Borough of Eastleigh. It is part of a wider ongoing body of work which aims 

to continually improve the safety and wellbeing of people living in and visiting Eastleigh. 

 

Hate crimes are described as any “acts of violence or hostility directed at people because of 

who they are or who someone thinks they are”1.  They are particularly concerning because 

they undermine basic human rights and have become increasingly prevalent over recent 

years2. The impact of hate crimes is wide-reaching, with emotional, psychological, societal 

and financial implications. 

 

Through the findings of this study, we hope to better understand the current level of hate 

crime reporting among LGBTQ+ people in the Borough of Eastleigh, and to identify ways in 

which this can be improved. This report concludes with recommendations which key 

stakeholders in the Borough of Eastleigh may wish to adopt in future, to ensure accessibility 

for and safety of LGBTQ+ people in the area.  

26



4 

 

2. Aim 

The aim of this study is to understand the current level of hate crime and its reporting 

among LGBTQ+ people in the Borough of Eastleigh, and to identify ways in which reporting 

services can be improved. 

 

Objectives 

● Through the use of primary data collection methods, gauge current level of hate 

crimes against the LGBTQ+ population in the Borough of Eastleigh 

● Assess the Hampshire Police Surveillance data on hate crimes 

● Understand some of the barriers to reporting of LGBTQ+ hate crimes by undertaking 

a literature review and qualitative survey  

● Liaise with local organisations which work with the LGBTQ+ community in order to 

obtain qualitative evidence about hate crime, its reporting, and how this can be 

improved 

● Develop recommendations for community organisations and reporting services to 

adopt in order to support safe and inclusive reporting of hate crimes against LGBTQ+ 

people 

  

27



5 

 

3. Study Design 

The first stage of this study involved collating, reading, analysing and evaluating existing 

literature on LGBTQ+ hate crime. To find these, search engines and research databases such 

as Google Scholar were used, as well as websites of charitable organisations such as 

Stonewall. The key findings were summarised in a brief literature review.  

 

Then, primary research was conducted in the form of surveys carried out at the first 

Eastleigh Pride in September 2018. For randomisation, every third person to pass the One 

Community stall was invited to participate. The results were assessed using descriptive 

statistical analysis in Microsoft Excel. Further surveys were also sent to charitable 

organisations working directly with and for LGBTQ+ people in Eastleigh and surroundings, 

including Breakout Youth and Eastleigh Citizens Advice, which also functions as a hate crime 

reporting centre. Due to a very small sample size and unknown distribution methods, results 

from this second round of surveys were used only anecdotally.   

 

To add depth and breadth to the research, qualitative data was also collected via two 

modalities. First, there were two open-ended questions in the survey: one asked the 

participants for suggestions on how the Police could better support LGBTQ+ hate crime 

reporting, and the second invited any additional comments. Moreover, observations and 

suggestions from key stakeholders in local organisations that work with the LGBTQ+ 

community were obtained for a more holistic perspective. 

Finally, all of this information was analysed, and the results were compiled to produce 

recommendations based upon the findings. 

28



6 

 

4. Key Terms 

Bisexual 

Discrimination 

Equality  

Gay 

Hate Crime 

Lesbian 

LGBTQ+ 

Prejudice 

Protected Characteristic 

Queer 

Transgender 

 

In this report, hate crimes committed against people identifying as LGBTQ+ due to their 

sexual orientation or gender identity are frequently referred to as “LGBTQ+ hate crimes”.  

29



7 

 

5. Literature Review 

5.1. Introduction 

5.1.1. What is “LGBTQ+”? 

LGBTQ+ is an acronym used to refer to people who identify as Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, 

Transgender, Questioning, or sexual orientations and gender identities other than 

heterosexual and cisgender. In order to best approach potentially sensitive matters of 

sexual orientation and gender identity, it is important to have some understanding of the 

terms used.  

 

Another word which has become increasingly common to replace “LGBTQ+” is the umbrella 

term “queer”. While historically this has been viewed as a homophobic slur, the word has 

been reclaimed by many LGBTQ+ people. However, it should be used with caution, 

preferably only by those who self-identify using this word, and there are publications 

advising the media and organisations on how to refer to people’s identities and 

orientations3,4. Additionally, there are several online dictionaries available to educate 

stakeholders as well as the wider community on terms frequently used by and to refer to 

LGBTQ+ people. One such trusted resource can be found on the Stonewall website: 

 

https://www.stonewall.org.uk/help-advice/glossary-terms 

 

People identifying as LGBTQ+ face a distinct set of challenges. Not only have there been 

legal limitations set historically in the UK and worldwide on the rights and freedoms of 

LGBTQ+ people, but there continues to be frequent cases of micro-aggressions, 

30

https://www.stonewall.org.uk/help-advice/glossary-terms


8 

 

discrimination and hate crimes. It is important that these matters are discussed and 

investigated in order to create a society where everyone feels safe and accepted, and so 

that community organisations as well as public services can do all they can to support those 

who may be at increased risk of harm. 

 

5.1.2. What is Hate Crime? 

The Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) defines hate crime as a crime that encompasses “a 

range of criminal behaviour where the perpetrator is motivated by hostility or demonstrates 

hostility towards the victim's … identity”5. In short, a hate crime is a criminal act which 

undermines the freedom to a protected characteristic, defined by the Equality Act 20106. 

 

Protected characteristics include: 

● Age 

● Disability 

● Gender reassignment status 

● Marriage or civil partnership status 

● Race 

● Religion or belief 

● Sex 

● Sexual orientation 

 

31



9 

 

It is a criminal offence to discriminate against someone on the basis of any of these 

characteristics. Furthermore, the Equality Act also covers harassment and discrimination on 

the basis of protected characteristics; such incidents often form part of hate crimes6. 

 

Types of Hate Crime 

The term “hate crime” may conjure up mental images of violence and injury. However, it 

can in fact take many forms. It is crucial that individuals and organisations recognise what is 

considered to be a hate crime, so that appropriate action can be taken, and the crime is 

appropriately reported. 

 

Hate crime take place via a number of modalities, including: 

● In person 

● Online 

● Via post 

 

It includes, but is not limited to: 

● Physical violence 

● Harassment 

● Name-calling 

● Spreading malicious rumours 

● Blackmailing, bullying or intimidation 

● Sexually threatening behaviour 

● Damage to property 

32



10 

 

 

These lists are not exhaustive, and with the rise of social media, perpetrators are finding 

increasingly more ways to target their victims. Recent data revealed that public order 

offences (56%), followed by violence (33%) account for nine in ten hate crimes reported to 

the police2. 

 

5.2. Current Status of LGBTQ+ rights 

So, why is it that in 2019 people are still being attacked for who they are? When asking this 

question, it is important to consider the current status of LGBTQ+ rights both in the UK and 

internationally. 

 

Globally, LGBTQ+ people face many challenges (Figure 1).  

● Homosexuality is illegal in 73 countries7 

● Homosexual acts are punishable by the death penalty in 8 countries8 

● LGBTQ+ rights are being rolled back in the US, a country with a close relationship to 

the UK 

● Only five countries in the world have constitutions which explicitly guarantee 

equality regardless of sexual orientation or gender identity9, one of which is the UK 

 

 

 

 

 

33



11 

 

Figure 1: Map giving an overview of LGBTQ+ rights worldwide10 

 

 
 

It can be seen that LGBTQ+ people face significant discrimination and even threat to life 

across the globe. If laws can punish people on the basis of being LGBTQ+, it is hardly 

surprising that malicious individuals will do the same in the form of hate crime. 

 

5.2.1. LGBTQ+ equality in Britain: a timeline 

To better understand the discrimination faced by LGBTQ+ people here in the UK, it is useful 

to consider a timeline of key developments (Figure 211,12). 

34



12 

 

Figure 2: Milestones for rights of LGBTQ+ people in the UK 

 

It is only over recent decades that laws protecting equal rights for LGBTQ+ people have 

been passed. Until very recently, transgender rights were particularly neglected. Same-sex 

attraction was only declassified as a mental illness by the World Health Organisation in 

199212. However, it was not until 2005 that the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental 

Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-IV),  a key medical reference manual, replaced “gender 

identity disorder” with “gender dysphoria”, shifting the diagnosis of mental illness from 

being transgender to the psychological distress, i.e. dysphoria, associated with incongruous 

physical and psychological identities. Thus, in the past, being LGBTQ+ has not only been 

illegitimised from a legal perspective, but also medicalised. The shame brought by having 

2014 

Same-sex marriage legalised 

2010 

Equality Act officially adds "gender reassignment" as a protected characteristic 

2004 

Same-sex couples granted eqal rights and responsibilities via Civil 
Partnerships Act 

Gender Recognition Act passed, allowing people with gender 
dysphoria to legally change their gender 

2002 

Same-sex couples gain equal rights to adopt 

2002 

Homosexuals allowed to serve in armed forces 

1992 

World Health Organisation declassifies homosexuality as a mental illness 

1972 

First “Gay Pride Rally” in London 

1967 

Homosexual sex between males decriminalised in England and Wales 

35



13 

 

these “diseases” would not only act to perpetuate biases, pushing LGBTQ+ people to the 

peripheries of society, it also impacted on their self-esteem and self-worth. That is not to 

mention the atrocities that took place in order to “fix” these “treatable” conditions, such as 

electroconvulsion therapy in the 20th century13. (N.B. These were less controlled than 

present-day electroconvulsive therapy for treatment of some mental illnesses, which is 

carefully prescribed, with appropriated sedation, and generally well-tolerated). 

 

It is worth recognising that bisexual people and lesbians have often found themselves left 

out of the conversation on LGBTQ+ rights and may be underrepresented or excluded by 

international movements which should advocate for them14. This was the basis for the 

founding of Stonewall’s “Out of the Margins” project, a two-year programme focusing on 

lesbian, bisexual and transgender advocacy, visibility and rights worldwide.  

 

5.3. LGBTQ+ hate crime in the UK 

People who identify as LGBTQ+ are unfortunately often victims of hate crime. In the UK, a 

national survey found that an astounding one in five LGBT people had experienced hate 

crime directed towards their sexual orientation or gender identity in the twelve months 

prior15. That number doubles when analysing the results of transgender people in isolation. 

 

There has been a profound increase in hate crimes, including those against LGBTQ+ people, 

over recent years. A recent analysis by The Guardian using Home Office statistics cited a 

144% increase per capita between 2013-14 and 2017-18, with 11,600 crimes recorded in the 

most recent year of data16. However, this trend is not unique to the UK. Both the US and 

36



14 

 

several countries throughout Europe have reported an overall increase in hate incidents in 

recent years17,18. 

 

5.3.1. Where does it stem from? 

It is difficult to pinpoint an exact set of reasons for why hate crimes occur. Nevertheless, it 

should be acknowledged that there are several factors which have hindered societies’ 

acceptance of people who identify as LGBTQ+. 

 

History 

As highlighted in Section 6.2.1., homosexual acts were illegal in the UK, until being 

decriminalised in 1967. Despite the change in law, a change in beliefs can take far longer to 

manifest and homophobic ideas may be passed on down the generations. 

 

Religion and Culture 

Many homophobic and transphobic beliefs can be at least partially attributed to the 

interpretation of scriptural teachings from all mainstream religions. It is important that 

religious and cultural teachings are not deemed as an acceptable excuse for discriminatory 

or hateful behaviour towards LGBTQ+ people and that laws forbidding hate against any 

individual or group on the basis of their identity are consistently enforced.  

 

An updated relationships education curriculum is being introduced in the UK, with the aim 

of equipping children with the knowledge of “positive and safe relationships of all kinds”19, 

37



15 

 

including LGBTQ+ relationships. Unfortunately, this has caused unprecedented backlash 

(Case Study 120). 

 

 

 

Case Study 1: Relationships Education in Birmingham Schools 

 

Earlier this year, the UK Government introduced a new mandatory relationships and sex 

education (RSE) curriculum for primary school children, in the hope of encouraging a 

healthy understanding of relationships and respect, including towards LGBTQ+ people. 

 

Unfortunately, this led to protests, 

predominantly outside two schools in 

Birmingham. The majority of protesters held 

religious beliefs that homosexuality is a sin. 

These protests were condemned by a number 

of MPs and the Court even had to enforce an 

injunction, prohibiting the protests within a specific radius of the schools. MP Jess Phillips 

has described the protests as “hate preaching”. However, protestors defend that they are 

not protesting against LGBTQ+ people existing, rather the representation of LGBTQ+ people 

in RSE lessons. 

 

The effects of these protests have no doubt been wide-reaching and their full impact is yet 

to be assessed. Not only did the protests cause disruption to the children’s education, but 

they also jeopardised the safety and dignity of LGBTQ+ children, parents and individuals 

nationwide. 

 

 

Photo: Gay Times - Community  

38



16 

 

Politics 

The increase in political instability and corresponding increase in mainstream, accepted hate 

speech, which the UN has vowed to tackle21, may be another significant catalyst for LGBTQ+ 

hate crimes. When the UK voted to exit the European Union (“Brexit”) in 2016, there was a 

“clear spike” in hate crimes2. It seems reasonable to infer that some people leverage politics 

as an opportunity to enforce their extremist views. 

 

Individual-level motivators 

As well as societal reasons, there have been several proposed theories on a more individual 

level as to why perpetrators commit hate crimes. One thought is that hate crimes are at the 

extreme end of prejudice, so prejudices must be addressed and should not be downplayed 

by focusing solely on criminal behaviour22,23. Another is the concept of the authoritarian 

personality proposed by Adorno et al24; this personality type tends to conform to 

conventional societal values and usually harbours prejudices against several marginalised 

groups. There is also the phenomenon whereby a person may feel “pushed” to commit hate 

crimes in order to be accepted by a particular group which may express extremist views. 

Interestingly, and perhaps most relevant to LGBTQ+ hate crime, there may be an element of 

shame leading someone to commit a hate crime25. For example, if someone has been led to 

believe that homosexuality is shameful, they may wish to distance themselves from 

homosexuality (whether or not they identify as LGBTQ+) by committing a hate crime against 

an LGBTQ+ person in order to openly show others that they do not identify with this group.  

 

39



17 

 

Ultimately, hate crimes appear to stem from a complex relationship between a range of 

factors and anyone who does not comply to societal norms may find themselves victimised. 

 

5.3.2. Case Study: A Hate Crime in London  

With robust laws and a global reputation for being accepting, it is easy to become 

complacent about advocating for LGBTQ+ rights in the UK. However, a quick look at the 

statistics above and a read of the recent news tells a very different story. 

 

Every day, acceptance, respect and safety for all are being challenged. One recent example 

occurred in what is often thought to be one of the most open-minded and diverse cities in 

the world – London, United Kingdom (Case Study 226,27).  

 

Case Study 2: A Hate Crime in London 

 

In the early hours of 30th May 2019, Melania Gemonyet and 

her girlfriend, Chris, were travelling on the bus after a date 

in London. They were approached by a group of young men, 

now known to be aged between 15 and 18 years old, who 

verbally harassed them, made sexual gestures and then 

physically attacked them when they refused to kiss. 

 

They required hospital treatment, with significant 

superficial injuries and a broken nose. Gemonyet shared the image above as a sombre 

reminder of the state of affairs of hate crimes against LGBTQ+ people in the UK. 

 

Photo: Melania Gemonyet via BBC News 

40



18 

 

Ben Hunte, BBC LGBT Correspondent, stated: “this attack is a shocking reminder that even 

in one of the world’s most accepting and celebrated cities, there is still work to be done to 

protect LGBT people from harm.” 

 

This harrowing incident serves as a stark example of what often goes unspoken about and 

unreported within the LGBTQ+ population15, and what needs to be tackled systematically 

and urgently – hate crime. 

 

5.4. Improving Reporting Interventions 

A number of organisations, including the UK Government, have attempted to develop 

national guidelines for improving the reporting of hate crime in the UK.  

 

5.4.1. Galop’s LGBT Hate Crime Quality Standard (2011) 

Galop describes themselves as “the LGBT+ anti-violence charity” and, among other things, 

they provide fantastic support for LGBTQ+ people who have experienced hate crime, sexual 

violence or domestic violence28. In 2011, Galop developed the “LGBT Hate Crime Quality 

Standard, a service improvement tool for organisations”, as part of their lead role within the 

National LGBT Hate Crime Partnership. It identifies key areas in which organisations can 

excel in providing optimal hate crime reporting services29. 

 

Galop has identified seven key components of an effective hate crime reporting service 

(Figure 3) and provides a self-assessment chart for organisations to assess the efficacy of 

current services and identify how they can improve (Appendix 2)29. 

 

41



19 

 

Figure 3: The Seven Components of Galop’s Quality Standard 

 

User centred service 

 

Workforce and learning 

 

Reaching out 

 

      LGBT Addressing diverse LGBT needs 

 

Policies and procedures 

 

    Monitoring and evaluating 

 

Strategy 

 

 

5.4.2. Action Against Hate (2013) 

In order to understand the current incidence of hate crimes and to ensure that victims 

receive the support they need, it is important that there are national-level interventions and 

pathways. In 2016, the UK Government developed “Action Against Hate” 30, a five-year 

action plan for tackling hate crime. It builds on the Government’s previous plan to tackle 

hate crime- Challenge It, Report It, Stop it31.  

42



20 

 

The five focuses of Action Against Hate are: 

1. Preventing hate crime 

 To be achieved primarily through education, including a project in schools 

equipping teachers to hold discussions with pupils about a range of topical 

issues. Additionally, roll out the new Anne Frank Trust schools programme, 

focused on preventing hate-related bullying and encouraging critical thinking 

on pupils’ own views32 

 An assessment of the current level of bullying in schools based on protected 

characteristics is also to be carried out by the Department for Education and 

Government Equalities Office. Programmes will then be devised with the aim 

to reduce levels 

 Educating other professionals 

 

2. Tackling hate crime in the community 

 Work in partnership with community groups to drive down hate crimes 

 Work with community-based organisations such as Galop to provide 

assistance to victims of LGBTQ+ hate crime 

  Work with the British Transport Police to improve crime reporting services  

 Improve support for online hate crime reporting 

 

3. Improving hate crime reporting  

 Encourage uptake of third-party hate crime reporting services by utilising 

advertising and establishing best practice standards within reporting centres 

43



21 

 

  Identify more locations where third-party reporting could be made available 

 Work with already established community organisations to ensure that they 

are equipped to report hate crimes 

 Develop new programmes, including for the LGBTQ+ community 

 Improve publicity of successful hate crime convictions, in order to gain public 

confidence in reporting hate crime 

 

4. Providing better support for victims of hate crimes 

 Improved training for the Police force on how to handle hate crime reports 

 Review of current hate crime report practices within the Police force 

 Receive feedback from victims and witnesses of hate crimes 

 Improve CPS services 

 

5. Improving understanding of hate crime 

 Primarily through data collection, analysis and interpretation 

 

With regards to improving reporting of LGBTQ+ hate crime specifically, the Action Against 

Hate plan sees Government working with a number of community-based organisations to 

meet the needs of target groups. Moreover, they plan to widely disseminate the quality 

standards written by Galop (Section 5.4.1.).  

 

In 2018, the UK Government reviewed the plan, launched two years prior. In their review, 

they established more targets based on observed needs. In particular, the programme is to 

44



22 

 

become more victim-focused, ensuring that anyone who reports a hate crime is well-

supported33. There was particular concern about the high incidence of hate crimes against 

LGBTQ+ people. Specific measures in the update to combat this include: an updated LGBT 

Hate Crime Schools Pack to be implemented by the CPS, the CPS to improve recording of 

equalities data for LGBTQ+ victims of hate crime, and continuing to engage with LGBTQ+ 

stakeholders to generate ideas of schemes to combat hate crime33.  

 

Since the Action Against Hate programme is a five-year scheme, its full impact is yet to be 

realised.  

 

5.5. The Impact of Hate Crime 

The impact of experiencing a hate crime is significant and often long-lasting. The Sussex 

Hate Crime Project’s five-year study on hate crime among LGBTQ+ and Muslim communities 

broke down impact into direct (on the individual) and indirect (societal) effects. Direct 

effects were predominantly victim-based trauma, while indirect effects were concerned 

with the impact of society as a whole34.  

 

Here, some of the effects of hate crime are broken down into impact on the victim, society 

and the perpetrator. 

 

Victim 

● Loss of confidence 

● Feelings of vulnerability 

45



23 

 

● Emotional and psychological trauma, including Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder 

(PTSD) 

● Employment and financial implications due to ill health 

● Physical injury 

● Death 

 

Society 

● Decreased community safety and fear of attack 

● Further segregation between people of different characteristics 

● Marginalisation of specific groups 

● Social isolation 

 

Perpetrator 

● Legal consequences 

● Loss of career or reputation 

● Perpetuation of criminality 

 

5.6. Hate Crime in the Borough of Eastleigh 

Thankfully, hate crime reports in the Borough of Eastleigh are infrequent. However, there 

were 20 reported hate incidents between April 1st 2018 and March 31st 2019, and 19 hate 

crimes, on the basis of sexual orientation. There were fewer than 5 hate crimes reported 

based on gender identity in Eastleigh. However, it is likely that there are far more incidents 

than is actually reported. 

46



24 

 

 

In Eastleigh, there are four third-party hate crime reporting centres: three within 

independent organisations, and one within the Citizens Advice Network35. The most central 

of these was contacted in order to obtain data on hate crime reporting. For the year prior to 

March 2019, there had no reports for LGBTQ+ hate crimes at the centre. 

  

47



25 

 

6. Primary Research 

6.1. Eastleigh Survey Results 

6.1.1. Baseline Analysis 

To establish a better understanding of hate crime and its reporting within the borough, 

thirty-nine participants were surveyed at Eastleigh Pride using the survey methods 

described in Section 4 in September 2018. Baseline analysis revealed that survey 

participants were spread fairly evenly between the age groups (Figure 4). 

 

Figure 4: Baseline analysis – age of participants  

 

Moreover, there was a broadly even split between heterosexual and LGBTQ+ participants 

(Figure 5). 

 

 

 

 

48



26 

 

 

Figure 5: Baseline analysis – sexual orientation of participants  

 

 

For the purpose of many of the analyses, results taken from LGBTQ+ participants were 

assessed in isolation. 

 

6.1.2. Hate Crime and Reporting 

Of the LGBTQ+ study population, a shocking 42.1% (8 of 19) reported to have experienced 

hate crime directed at their sexual orientation and/or gender identity within the past 2 

years. 

 

However, only 38% (3 of 8) reported these incidents (Figure 6). One of these reports was to 

the Police, with the other two being to a friend and to the perpetrator. 

 

 

 

49



27 

 

Figure 6: Hate Crime Reporting in Eastleigh 

 

Of the who did not report, reasons given were: 

 It seems normal- it is expected that these things happen 

 Did not know who to tell 

 Did not want to make a big deal out of it 

 

6.1.3. Preferred Methods of Reporting 

The preferred method of reporting was found to be face-to-face in the community (F2F 

Comm; 26%), e.g. at a third-party hate crime reporting centre. This was closely followed by 

face-to-face at a Police Station (F2F PS; 24%) and then via telephone (Tel; 23%), as displayed 

in Figure 7. 

 

 

 

 

 

50



28 

 

Figure 7: Preferred Reporting Methods 

 

 

Taking a closer look, there were slight differences preferred reporting methods of different 

age groups (Figure 8). Nevertheless, the face-to-face and telephone methods of reporting 

prevailed as most preferred when looking at each age group individually. Perhaps 

unsurprisingly, 60% (3 individuals) of those selecting social media as a preferred reporting 

method were aged 18-25. 

 

Figure 8: Reporting Preferences by Age 

 

51



29 

 

6.2. Qualitative Data 

The chief source of qualitative information was responses to the question “what would you 

like the Police force to focus on when supporting LGBTQ+ communities?”.  Many 

participants had similar suggestions, and key themes were identified as follows (Figure 9): 

 

● Tackling street homophobia 

● Addressing the matter with empathy and sensitivity 

● Providing a supportive environment 

● Providing education and outreach 

● Treating LGBTQ+ victims the same as any other victim of crime 

 

 

Figure 9: Thematic Analysis of Qualitative Responses 

 

 

52



30 

 

In the “other comments” section at the end of the questionnaire, many participants 

commented on how pleased they were that a Pride event was being held in Eastleigh, and 

also that this survey was being conducted. There is a clear need for visible inclusion and 

representation, and a desire to discuss important matters such as hate crime. 

  

53



31 

 

7. Discussion 

Hate crime in Eastleigh 

Statistics collated from official sources and evidence from those working at reporting 

centres and involved with community safety, suggest that hate crimes against the LGBTQ+ 

population are quite rare in the Borough of Eastleigh. However, our small-scale survey may 

indicate that in fact there is an ongoing problem of unreported hate crime against LGBTQ+ 

people. Interestingly, current national figures show that around 21% of people who identify 

as LGBTQ+ have experienced hate crime15 but in our survey proportionally double (42%) of 

respondents had. It may be assumed that the true incidence of hate crimes against LGBTQ+ 

people is significantly higher than the reported hate crimes for the Borough of Eastleigh 

captured by the third-party reporting centres and the Police. Alternatively, people who have 

experienced hate crime on the basis of their LGBTQ+ identity may be more likely to attend 

events such as Pride, where they are celebrated and accepted. This, along with the low 

power of the study, is a limitation which may have led to an overestimation of incidence 

levels. The quality of hate crime report recording should also be assessed, as this may 

influence the official figures and explain some of the discrepancy in findings. 

 

Current status of reporting 

Only 38% (3 of 8) of people in our study reported their hate crime experience and only one 

person (12.5%) did this to an official body like the Police. Similar observations were also 

made by national studies, with only 19% of LGBTQ+ people experiencing hate crime 

reporting it to the Police15.  

 

54



32 

 

It is likely that some participants did not recognise the importance of reporting hate crime 

(Section 6.1.2.). Similar to our findings, the Sussex Hate Crime Project found that some 

participants downplayed the significance of hate crimes: they would not report for reasons 

such as not wanting to waste Police or their own time, or not thinking the crime is serious 

enough. In general, there was also a distrust of the criminal justice system34, even though 

83% of people taken to court by the CPS for hate crime offences either admitted it or were 

found guilty5. By using the feedback in Figure 9 to educate the Police force on what LGBTQ+ 

people want from them in order to feel supported, we can hope to begin to improve the 

likelihood of reporting by building trust.  

 

Improving reporting measures 

With regards to improving accessibility to hate crime reporting services, our study found 

that the preferred reporting method was via face-to-face interactions or telephone calls. 

This suggests that the improvement of personal interaction services is an important factor 

to increase reporting of hate crime incidents, despite the move towards digitalisation in 

most sectors today. Nevertheless, digital avenues such as the online reporting via the Police 

Force tool should not be neglected, as they provide another route for reporting and trends 

in preferences may change over time. 

 

There are multiple interventions that would support the objective of improving reporting 

services. Smaller-scale, local execution of the implementable Action Against Hate plan is 

likely to be an effective place to start. One example would be providing educational 

seminars for frontline professionals working in local organisations on how to identify 

55



33 

 

LGBTQ+ hate crime and what measures to take following a report. These seminars could be 

delivered either in-person, via a training handbook, or using a video or online training 

resource. They may be tailored for general organisations (e.g. community centres or youth 

groups) as well as specifically for third-party reporting centres and/or the Police. 

 

Moreover, to report appropriately, the victim must understand what constitutes a hate 

crime. This can be achieved through education via campaigns geared towards local 

residents, in particular those identifying as LGBTQ+, about what hate crime is and what to 

do if they witness or experience it. Media advertising using local television channels, radio 

stations and newspapers could be used to raise awareness of the third-party reporting 

centres. National campaigns should also be publicised throughout the Borough of Eastleigh, 

as well as case studies of successful prosecution of perpetrators to build faith and trust in 

the criminal justice system for hate crime reporting. National Hate Crime Awareness Week, 

from 12-19th October 2019, may serve as a good opportunity to raise awareness of LGBTQ+ 

hate crime36. 

  

It was possible to conclude from our qualitative survey that many LGBTQ+ people in 

Eastleigh and surroundings are hoping for better education surrounding hate crimes in the 

LGBTQ+ community (Section 6.2.). This is in line with the Government’s Action Against Hate 

plan, which has focuses on both education of professionals and equality education from an 

early age, i.e. in schools. This may aid in prevention of crimes occurring in the first place. 

Moreover, ways in which aftercare can be improved should also be explored, as this is a 

56



34 

 

current limitation to the quality of service recognised by both survey participants and the 

Government.  

 

Finally, the utilisation of visible signs of acceptance should be considered. In conversation 

with key stakeholders of community safety, the use of rainbow Pride flags in strategic places 

was discussed. For example, posters advertising the reporting centres may wish to include 

the Pride flag, or employees could wear rainbow lanyards. This has already been 

implemented in many organisations. For example, around one in three NHS trusts have 

adopted the “Rainbow Badge” scheme in support for LGBTQ+ staff and patients37. 

  

In conclusion, even though this small-scale study in the Borough of Eastleigh is of limited 

power due to a relatively small sample size, there are many important takeaways, especially 

when considered in conjunction with larger national studies. Given the rise of discriminatory 

behaviour and hate crime, it is crucial that the matter is taken seriously, and that clear, 

implementable measures are taken to improve hate crime reporting among LGBTQ+ people. 

Special attention should be paid to the development of the preferred reporting method: 

face-to-face reporting services in the community, such as at third-party reporting centres. 

  

57



35 

 

8. Recommendations 

Accessibility 

● Advertise hate crime reporting centres, making use of the rainbow flag as a symbol 

of acceptance for LGBTQ+ individuals 

● LBT Discrepancies in visibility and recognition should be considered when 

considering hate crime reporting among this population 

● Ensure reporting centres are accessible for all as many people will belong to several 

marginalised groups, e.g. install ramp access, provide general equality training 

 

Awareness 

● Develop educational materials for local organisations to better understand what 

hate crime is and how it should be reported 

● Educate individuals on what hate crime is through use of local media and 

publications 

● Create a programme for National Hate Crime Awareness week, including LGBTQ+-

focussed events or materials 

 

Service Quality 

● Through the use of surveys and questionnaires, investigate how well-equipped staff 

at third-party reporting centres feel in handling LGBTQ+ hate crime reports 

● Identify training needs for staff at third-party reporting centres with help of Galop’s 

LGBT Hate Crime Quality Standard 

58



36 

 

● Create a training programme focused on LGBTQ+ hate crime to be delivered to third-

party reporting centres 

● Monitor hate crime recording 

 

Miscellaneous 

 Consider digital hate crime impact and management 

 Explore deterrents of hate crime perpetration 

 Consider how aftercare can be improved 

 

  

59



37 

 

9. References

                                                      
1 Citizens Advice (2019). What are hate incidents and hate crime?. [online] Available at: 

https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/law-and-courts/discrimination/hate-crime/what-are-hate-

incidents-and-hate-crime. 

2 Home Office (2018). Hate Crime, England and Wales, 2017/18 Statistical Bulletin 20/18. [online] 

Available at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/748598/hate-crime-1718-hosb2018.pdf. 

3 GLAAD. GLAAD Media Reference Guide - AP, Reuters & New York Times Style. [online] Available at: 

https://www.glaad.org/reference/style. 

4 Stonewall. Glossary of terms. [online] Available at: https://www.stonewall.org.uk/help-

advice/glossary-terms. 

5 The Crown Prosecution Service (2019). Hate crime. [online] Available at: 

https://www.cps.gov.uk/hate-crime. 

6 Legislation.gov.uk. (2019). Equality Act 2010. [online] Available at: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents. 

7 World Economic Forum. (2018). This is the state of LGBTI rights around the world in 2018. [online] 

Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2018/06/lgbti-rights-around-the-world-in-2018. 

8 Stonewall. (2019). International work. [online] Available at: https://www.stonewall.org.uk/get-

involved/get-involved-international/international-work. 

9 UCLA. (2019). LGBT rights and protections are scarce in constitutions around the world, UCLA study 

finds. [online] Available at: http://newsroom.ucla.edu/releases/lgbt-rights-and-protections-are-

scarce-in-constitutions-around-the-world-ucla-study-finds. 

60



38 

 

                                                                                                                                                                     
10 Wikimedia Commons (2019). File:World laws pertaining to homosexual relationships and 

expression.svg. [image] Available at: 

https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:World_laws_pertaining_to_homosexual_relationships_an

d_expression.svg. 

11 Gay History. (2005). [PDF] Jobcentre Plus National Diversity Sexuality Group for Gay History 

Month. Available at: https://www.lgbthistorymonth.org.uk/documents/9631_GHW-

A3FlagPoster.pdf. 

12 Stonewall. (2016). Key dates for lesbian, gay, bi and trans equality. [online] Available at: 

https://www.stonewall.org.uk/about-us/key-dates-lesbian-gay-bi-and-trans-equality. 

13 Smith, G. (2004). Treatments of homosexuality in Britain since the 1950s--an oral history: the 

experience of patients. BMJ, 328(7437), pp.427-0. 

14 Stonewall. (2019). Out of the Margins - A Global LBT+ Rights Project. [online] Available at: 

https://www.stonewall.org.uk/out-margins-global-lbt-rights-project. 

15 Bachmann, C. and Gooch, B. (2017). LGBT in Britain Hate Crime and Discrimination. [online] 

Stonewall. Available at: https://www.stonewall.org.uk/system/files/lgbt_in_britain_hate_crime.pdf. 

16 Marsh, S., Mohdin, A. and McIntyre, N. (2019). Homophobic and transphobic hate crimes surge in 

England and Wales. [online] The Guardian. Available at: 

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/jun/14/homophobic-and-transphobic-hate-crimes-

surge-in-england-and-wales. 

17 Lartey, J. (2019). NAACP to Congress: investigate hate crimes spike amid 'xenophobic rhetoric'. 

[online] The Guardian. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2019/mar/13/spike-in-

us-hate-crimes-warrants-congressional-action-says-naacp. 

18Institute for the Study of National Policy and Interethnic Relations, European International 

Tolerance Centre and Centre for Monitoring and Comparative Analysis of Intercultural 

Communications (Moscow Institute of Psychoanalysis) (2018). Xenophobia, Radicalism, and Hate 

61



39 

 

                                                                                                                                                                     
Crime in Europe. [online] Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe. Available at: 

https://www.osce.org/odihr/395336?download=true. 

19 Gov.uk. (2019). Relationships education, relationships and sex education (RSE) and health 

education: FAQs. [online] Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/relationships-

education-relationships-and-sex-education-rse-and-health-education-faqs. 

20 Parveen, N. (2019). LGBT lesson protests hijacked by religious extremists, MPs say. [online] The 

Guardian. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/education/2019/may/24/lgbt-lesson-

protests-hijacked-religious-extremists-mps-say. 

21 UN News. (2019). Hate speech ‘on notice’ as UN chief launches new plan to ‘identify, prevent and 

confront’ growing scourge. [online] Available at: https://news.un.org/en/story/2019/06/1040731. 

22 Scottish Government (2015). What works to reduce prejudice and discrimination? - A review of 

the evidence. [online] Available at: https://www.gov.scot/publications/works-reduce-prejudice-

discrimination-review-evidence/pages/1/. 

23 Valentine, G. and McDonald, I. (2004). Understanding Prejudice - Attitudes towards minorities. 

[online] Stonewall. Available at: 

https://www.overcominghateportal.org/uploads/5/4/1/5/5415260/understanding_prejudice-

attitudes_toward_minorities.pdf. 

24 Walters, M., Brown, R. and Wiedlitzka, S. (2019). Causes and motivations of hate crime. [online] 

Equality and Human Rights Commission. Available at: 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/research-report-102-causes-and-

motivations-of-hate-crime.pdf. 

25 Roberts, C., Innes, M., Williams, M., Tregidga, J. and Gadd, D. (2013). Understanding who commits 

hate crime and why they do it. [online] Welsh Government. Available at: 

https://orca.cf.ac.uk/58880/1/understanding-who-commits-hate-crime-and-why-they-do-it-en.pdf. 

62



40 

 

                                                                                                                                                                     
26 Noor, P. and Busby, M. (2019). Teenagers held over homophobic attack on two women on London 

bus. [online] the Guardian. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2019/jun/07/two-

women-left-bloodied-in-homophobic-attack-on-london-bus. 

27 BBC News. (2019). Arrests over gay couple bus attack. [online] Available at: 

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-48555889 

28 Galop.org.uk. Hate Crime. [online] Available at: http://www.galop.org.uk/hatecrime/. 

29 Galop (2016). LGBT hate crime quality standard a service improvement tool for organisations. 

[online] Available at: https://www.galop.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/LGBT-Hate-Crime-Quality-

Standard.pdf. 

30Home Office (2016). Action Against Hate - The UK Government’s plan for tackling hate crime. 

(2016). [online] Available at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/543679/Action_Against_Hate_-_UK_Government_s_Plan_to_Tackle_Hate_Crime_2016.pdf. 

31HM Government (2012). Challenge it, Report it, Stop it: The Government’s Plan to Tackle Hate 

Crime. [online] Available at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/97849/action-plan.pdf. 

32 The Anne Frank Trust UK. Free To Be. [online] Available at: 

https://annefrank.org.uk/education/free-to-be/. 

33 HM Government (2018). Action Against Hate - The UK Government’s plan for tackling hate crime – 

‘two years on’. [online] Available at: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/748175/Hate_crime_refresh_2018_FINAL_WEB.PDF. 

34 Paterson, J., Walters, M., Brown, R. and Fearn, H. (2018). The Sussex Hate Crime Project - Final 

Report. [online] University of Sussex. Available at: 

63



41 

 

                                                                                                                                                                     
https://www.sussex.ac.uk/webteam/gateway/file.php?name=sussex-hate-crime-project-

report.pdf&site=430. 

35  List of Third-Party Reporting Centres. (2018). 4th ed. [PDF] Hampshire Police and Crime 

Commissioner. Available at: https://www.hampshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/List-

of-Third-Party-Reporting-Centres-hate-crime-v4-October-2018.pdf [Accessed 29 Aug. 2019]. 

36 Stop Hate UK (2019). National Hate Crime Awareness Week 2019. [online] Available at: 

http://www.stophateuk.org/hate-crime-awareness-week/. 

37 NHS England (2019).  NHS is out and proud for Pride. [online] Available at: 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/2019/07/nhs-is-out-and-proud-for-pride. 

64



 

 

i 

10. Appendix 

10.1. Questionnaire 

Eastleigh Pride 2018 – LGBTQ+ Hate Crime Survey 

 

Thank you for taking the time to participate in this survey. As part of a wider body of work 

on hate crime towards people who identify as LGBTQ+, One Community are conducting 

primary research to gain a better understanding of the current status of and levels of 

reporting. Your participation is optional and will be treated as confidential (in circumstances 

of risk, this may need to be broken). 

Age: 

18 -25  26 – 35  36 – 55   56 – 70   71 and over  

 

1. Home postcode (first 4 digits only): 

 

__________________ 

 

2. How would you describe your sexual orientation? 

Homosexual   Heterosexual  Bisexual   Asexual   

Pan/polysexual  Queer   Questioning   I don’t know  

Other: ____________ 

 

3. What would you describe as your gender identity? 

Female to male/trans man/transgender male   

 Genderqueer/non-binary  

65



 

 

ii 

Male to female/trans woman/transgender female   Male   

  

Female         Other: 

____________ 

 

4. Have you been the victim of an incident or crime due to sexual orientation or 

gender identity in the last 2 years? 

 By this we mean verbal abuse, harassment, intimidation, bullying, damage to 

property, assault or threats, etc. 

 Yes      No  

 

5. Where were these event(s)? Please tick all that apply. 

 In school     Employment/Workplace   Public 

place  

Family/Partner relationship   Online      

Other (please state): _____________ 

 

6. Who did you report it to? Please tick all that apply. 

Police   Council    Charity   School  

 College  

Workplace   Trade Union   GP    Health Service 

  

True Vision   Did not report  Family/friends  Other: 

____________ 

 

 If you did not report it, what was the reason that you didn’t? 

 

66



 

 

iii 

 

If the incident or crime was reported, how satisfied are you with the way your police force 

dealt with the incident? 

 

If reported, were you contacted by a Lesbian and Gay Liaison Officer (LAGLO) from 

Hampshire, or a similar scheme officer from your home force? 

 Yes    No  

 

7. If you were to report a hate incident or crime to the police in the future which 

method of reporting would you prefer? Please tick all that apply. 

 Telephone     Email      

Social media     Messaging or online chat service     

Face-to-face at police station  Force website (reporting tool)   

Other: ____________ 

 

8.  What method(s) of engagement do you think is best for the police with LGBTQ+ 

communities  

e.g. ‘pop-in’ surgeries at the Police Station, visiting LGBTQ+ venues, visiting GP 

surgeries, stands in supermarkets and libraries 

 

9.  What would you like the police to focus on when supporting LGBTQ+ 

communities? 

 

 

 

 

67



 

 

iv 

10. Any other comments 

 

 

 

 

 

Thank you for your time  

If you or anyone you know has been affected by Hate Crime, drop in to the Eastleigh 

Museum, contact your local Police Force or, in an emergency, dial 999. 

 

 

68



 

 

v 

10.2. Galop’s Self-Assessment Chart 

From the Appendix of Galop’s LGBT Hate Crime Quality Standard (2016)29. 

69



 

 

vi 

 

70


	Agenda
	6 Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership Annual Review
	Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership - Appendix 1
	Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership - Appendix 2


